

Effective practice in Resettlement

Dr. Matt Cracknell

HM Inspectorate of Probation Academic Insights 2023/01

Contents

Foreword	3
1. Introduction	4
2. Six key principles of effective resettlement practice	5
2.1 Early identification of needs and through-the-gate support	5
2.2 Plans produced co-productively and not solely risk-focused	6
2.3 Emphasis on continuity of support and the relational aspects of supervision	6
2.4 Bonding and bridging to sources of social capital	7
2.5 Responsive to needs of different groups	7
2.6 Strengths-based and restorative approaches	8
3. Conclusion	9
References	.10

Foreword

HM Inspectorate of Probation is committed to reviewing, developing and promoting the evidence base for high-quality probation and youth offending services. *Academic Insights* are aimed at all those with an interest in the evidence base. We commission leading academics to present their views on specific topics, assisting with informed debate and aiding understanding of what helps and what hinders probation and youth offending services.

This report was kindly produced by Dr Matt Cracknell, reviewing the evidence base on how best to support people as they leave prison and transition back into the community. Six key principles for effective resettlement practice are set out, highlighting the importance of working co-productively as early as possible, maintaining relationships and providing continuity of support, recognising intersectionality, accessing a wide network of community resources, and balancing monitoring and risk management with genuine rehabilitative and reintegrative support. For the principles to be realised, practitioners need to be given the time and resources to adopt an individualised and collaborative approach, and any exclusions that individuals face as they leave custody need to be minimised to enable them to fully integrate into the community.

Dr Robin Moore Head of Research

Author profile

Dr Matt Cracknell is a senior lecturer in criminology at Middlesex University. He completed a PhD in 2020 based on the resettlement of short sentence offenders under the *Transforming Rehabilitation* reforms. He has previously published work on the netwidening effects of short prison sentences, resettlement policy and practice in prisons and the community, post-sentence supervision and his experiences of training as a probation officer. Prior to working in academia, Matt had over seven years' experience working in various practitioner roles in the criminal justice system, including prisons, probation and substance use.

The views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the policy position of HM Inspectorate of Probation

1. Introduction

In 2021, 47,014 people were released from prison in England and Wales (Ministry of Justice, 2022), demonstrating the extent to which resettlement work is a core part of probation practice. However, the practitioners tasked to work with these individuals are often asked to fulfil a range of antagonistic and contradictory aims and approaches to resettlement (Canton, 2022) that can include:

- aftercare
- treatment
- the continuation of punishment
- risk management.

Indeed, there have been various policy and practice initiatives regarding how best to support people as they leave custody dating back to the birth of the modern prison in the early 19th century (Crow, 2006). These ambiguities reinforce concerns outlined by Maruna (2006) – that resettlement lacks an underlying theory or narrative for how it is supposed to work.

The uncertainty regarding how best to support people leaving custody is mirrored in ambiguities in the terminology used to describe this practice, with a set of interchangeable terms such as resettlement, re-entry, reintegration, and rehabilitation often used. However, there are a number of scholars who feel that the prefix 're' for these terms is inappropriate and does not sufficiently capture the reality that many people leaving prison are perennially disadvantaged and had not previously been integrated or settled in society (Carlen and Tombs, 2006). In England and Wales, resettlement is the common terminology in official policy language, replacing the previous terms of 'aftercare' or 'throughcare', and is used to describe the process of leaving prison and returning to society. However, linked to its originations in official policy language, resettlement is also commonly used to refer to any prison and/or probation intervention used to address practical issues and criminogenic factors in order to reduce reoffending (Rubio Arnal, 2021).

Despite the longstanding 'intractable problem' (Crow, 2006: 3) in providing effective resettlement, there is a substantial evidence base which demonstrates how best to support people as they leave prison and transition back into the community. This *Academic Insights* paper will draw upon this literature in order to outline what best practice in this area might look like, outlining six key principles of effective resettlement support. The paper will then turn to outlining some potential barriers that need to be addressed in order to realise this approach, setting out the implications for resettlement policy.

2. Six key principles of effective resettlement practice



2.1 Early identification of needs and through-the-gate support

The first key principle of effective resettlement practice is to ensure early identification of the needs of an individual. Resettlement needs should be identified through a sentence planning process that is initiated from the start of the sentence, when a person first enters custody. This approach should ensure issues are worked on pre-release and a realistic plan is set-up for release into the community (Hedderman, 2007; Kemshall, 2007; Malloch et al., 2013).

All individuals should have an assigned community probation practitioner in place before release, who can ensure the support plan is put in place, ready for when the person reenters the community. This process of support is commonly referred to as a through-thegate model, which is seen as the optimum approach for resettlement practice, as it should negate the deficiencies of models that operate purely in a prison or community setting, which either risk the individual relapsing upon release with a lack of support or do not allow for necessary preparations to take place for release (Clancy et al., 2006; Crow, 2006; Hucklesby and Wincup, 2007). A through-the-gate model should provide the individual with continuity and an opportunity to form a working relationship with a named probation practitioner who can work with the individual to: (i) form a plan before release; (ii) begin targeted work in prison; and (iii) help put the resettlement plan into practice when the individual is released.

2.2 Plans produced co-productively and not solely risk-focused

The second key principle involves ensuring any resettlement plans are collaboratively produced and not solely focused on risk management. Enforcement, monitoring and management of risk have increasingly become a central element of modern probation practice and will inevitably play a role in resettlement planning – particularly for any individuals assessed as high risk of serious harm (Trebilcock and Worrall, 2018). However, Raynor (2007) reminds us that practices which concentrate on compliance, enforcement and monitoring should be entitled risk management rather than resettlement, and equal attention should be paid to fostering a genuinely collaborative approach between the individual and practitioner.

Indeed, the <u>Academic Insights paper 2021/07</u> notes the importance of blending desistance-focused practice with risk management (Kemshall, 2021). Kemshall (2007) has also previously posited that if risk management is undertaken effectively it can contribute towards resettlement. This approach should include ensuring that individuals are fully aware of release conditions before their release and are involved in the planning of their release. Effective risk management plans also involve promoting internal controls (recognition of 'triggers' to reoffending) and utilising external controls (licence conditions) where needed. However, an over-emphasis of external controls can undermine internal controls, so Kemshall (2007) promotes a balance between them. Finally, failure to meet basic welfare needs as part of a release plan can undermine the entire process.

Hughes (2012) also reminds us of the important role that the assessment process can play in engagement, and that assessments should not solely be about managing harm, but a way to identify how best to work with an individual. Therefore, resettlement plans should be coproduced, and enhance protective factors. Where appropriate, resettlement plans should also actively involve the families and loved ones of the individual, who can play a crucial role in the resettlement process (Farmer, 2017).

2.3 Emphasis on continuity of support and the relational aspects of supervision

The third key principle identifies continuity of engagement as a crucial factor in developing the relational aspect between the individual and their probation officer (Maguire and Raynor, 1997; 2006a; 2006b; Clancy et al., 2006; Crow, 2006; Hedderman, 2007). Research on resettlement practice identifies that when the process between an individual and their probation practitioner becomes fragmented, the individual can experience confusion and frustration when re-starting the process with new officers (Maguire and Raynor, 2006b; Cracknell, 2020). Providing consistent support from a single named probation practitioner who works with the individual throughout their sentence is thus very important.

A central means of promoting support that is relational is to revisit McNeill's (2006) 'desistance paradigm'. This framework promotes several elements of good practice, including:

- early individualised preparation for release
- continuity of personal contact
- support in the face of setbacks
- a positive collaborative approach from the practitioner that is flexible and realistic.

Malloch et al. (2013) also outline areas of good practice that include:

- involving individuals in support plans
- consistency from workers which allows a trusting relationship to develop through dedicated liaison
- flexibility from workers to respond to issues as they occur.

The <u>Academic Insights paper 2019/05</u> outlines the importance of effective engagement in probation practice (Raynor, 2019). Essentially, individuals released from custody need to work with someone who displays genuine care and can form a trusting professional relationship.

Practitioners exhibiting a flexible approach towards recalls and licence conditions is also an important part of a relational approach to resettlement. An overtly punitive and inflexible response from practitioners can undermine legitimacy and procedural fairness – having a long-term impact on attitudes towards resettlement (Weaver and Barry, 2014). Indeed, a perceived lack of procedural fairness can create anger and resentment towards probation supervision (Digard, 2010). In particular, lapses and relapses can be a common element in an individual's often complex pathway of behavioural change, with the desistance journey often resembling a zigzag rather than a straight path (McNeill and Weaver, 2010). As such a practitioner should ascertain where the individual is on that journey and maintain a consistent approach that allows a trusting relationship to develop, alongside a flexible approach to respond to issues as they occur (Malloch et al. 2013). Failure to do so may result in the individual becoming trapped in a cycle between prison and the community (Cracknell, 2021a; 2022).

2.4 Bonding and bridging to sources of social capital

The fourth key principle involves supporting people to access appropriate welfare, treatment and community resources. The <u>Academic Insights paper 2019/03</u> advocates for the practitioner to become a 'community connector' (Best, 2019:7), linking individuals to community support networks. Such an approach places the practitioner in a central role of connector and advocate with an individual's families and the local community, helping to navigate the person through their resettlement journey. Social capital has also been outlined in the <u>Academic Insights paper 2021/06</u> as an important element of supporting desistance (Albertson, 2021).

Further recent research develops the notion of 'resettlement capital' (Hall et al., 2018: 521). This involves the individual drawing on a set of resources, including personal capabilities, families and partner networks and community resources, in order to successfully resettle in the community. For some, this involves the practitioner bonding links to existing networks, while, for others, it means the practitioner bridging the individual to new contacts. This approach foregrounds the social context in which resettlement takes place, including family and social networks as well as the wider community (Moore, 2011), and requires the practitioner to foster close links with external organisations in the community (Hucklesby and Wincup, 2007; Malloch et al., 2013).

However, the promotion of social capital and practical support should be combined alongside therapeutic and motivational work, particularly as providing practical support alone is often not sufficient in reintegrating individuals back into society, with practical help needing to be reinforced by addressing thinking and behaviour (Maguire and Raynor, 1997; 2006a; 2017; Crow, 2006; Raynor, 2020). Practical support should also be geared to helping individuals navigate the often complex bureaucratic systems, including the universal credit benefit system and housing – particularly for individuals with deficits in digital literacy (Halushuka, 2020; Cracknell, 2021a).

2.5 Responsive to needs of different groups

The fifth key principle involves the practitioner being cognizant of intersectionality and its impacts upon the resettlement process. In particular, it is important to recognise that specific groups and communities in society face additional barriers in their reintegration. Bunn (2019) outlines how the particular challenges of re-entry are often exacerbated by a

range of structural barriers including gender, race, class and age, and urges us to look at resettlement through an intersectional lens. For example, empirical evidence involving the resettlement experiences of black and ethnic minority groups suggests that these individuals find that their ethnicity affects their resettlement experience, principally that their needs and experiences are amplified by racism and discrimination (Jacobson et al. 2010). An HM Inspectorate of Prisons report (2020) on this issue highlighted that prison staff had an insufficient understanding of ethnic minorities' distinct experiences of imprisonment and that these individuals felt that this had a negative impact on their resettlement and rehabilitation. Greater awareness of these issues is particularly important due to black and ethnic minority groups being over-represented in the criminal justice system (Lammy Review, 2017).

Equal recognition also needs to be given to the distinct resettlement needs of women (Gelsthorpe and Sharp, 2007). Gelsthorpe and Sharp's empirical research tells us that woman within the criminal justice system have multiple needs that are often different to men, located within areas such as victimisation, paternalistic power relations, and distress. However, in a prison system dominated by males, these are often under-explored. Corston (2007) has long called for a more gender-responsive criminal justice system that fully recognises the specific needs of women, which would entail better community support, coordinated multi-agency provisions, and greater awareness that many women have childcare responsibilities. It is critical that a practitioner is able to recognise differences and be culturally and gender responsive in their approach.

2.6 Strengths-based and restorative approaches

The sixth and final key principle of effective resettlement practice involves utilising a strengths-based approach. In practice, this approach means not solely focusing on helping or monitoring an individual, but treating the person as an individual with talents and abilities who can make a positive contribution to society (Maruna and LeBel, 2015). This principle recognises the central role the community plays in reintegration. Maruna (2006) forcefully reminds us that reintegration has to be community led, and that practitioners cannot 'do' the reintegration, but they can support, enhance and work with the community to help individuals earn redemption.

As such, a strengths-based and restorative approach to resettlement could involve the practitioner fostering opportunities for the individual to not just physically re-enter the community but to 'earn' a place back into the 'moral community' (Burnett and Maruna, 2006). This can be achieved by providing opportunities for the individual to 'make good' and 'give something back', perhaps through mentoring, civic community engagement or participating in mutual aid groups. Involvement in these activities can also help to 'de-label' the individual and find a new identity beyond the 'offender' label (Burnett and Maruna, 2006).

An additional restorative practice for resettlement would involve use of 'reintegration rituals' (Maruna, 2006) to symbolically recognise a clear end of the period of punishment and to celebrate reintegration. This could involve the individual receiving a certificate in rehabilitation – complete with a list of their achievements during the sentence – presented at the end of the licence period (Maruna, 2011).

3. Conclusion

The six principles of effective resettlement practice outlined in this paper highlight a common theme; individuals released from custody need practitioners who:

- can demonstrate commitment and genuine care
- have knowledge of and access to a 'thick' network of community resources (Dominey, 2019)
- have the skills and confidence to balance monitoring and risk management with genuine rehabilitative and reintegrative support.

For the principles to be actualised into practice, practitioners need to be given the time and resources to work effectively with the individuals on their caseloads. Cracknell (2021b) has outlined how a series of resettlement policies introduced by various governments have been undermined by a 'common thread' of failures to properly resource resettlement services and give practitioners sufficient time to provide individualised and continuous support. A recent joint inspectorate review of the latest resettlement policy – *Offender Management in Custody – pre-release –* sadly seems to highlight many of the same concerns, with understaffing in particular highlighted as an issue hampering rehabilitative efforts (HM Inspectorate of Probation and HM Inspectorate of Prisons, 2022).

A further potential barrier for effective resettlement policy involves the post-sentence exclusion that many individuals face as they leave custody (Cracknell and Flintermann, 2022). Principally, the stigma of a criminal record can lead to exclusion and restriction in accessing services in areas vital to resettlement, including: employment, banking and financial services, access to housing, access to education, restrictions on travel, and restrictions from civic participation. These exclusionary policies mean that individuals become 'carceral citizens' (Miller and Stuart, 2017) and are denied the opportunity to become full autonomous members of society. Wider government policies thus need to pay attention to providing individuals with the all-important opportunities to reintegrate into the community.

References

Albertson, K. (2021). *Social capital building supporting the desistance process*, HM Inspectorate of Probation Academic Insights 2021/06.

Best, D. (2019). *A model for resettlement based on the principles of desistance and recovery*, HM Inspectorate of Probation Academic Insights 2021/03.

Bunn, R. (2019). 'Intersectional needs and reentry: Re-conceptualizing 'multiple and complex needs' post-release', *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 19(3), pp. 328-345.

Burnett, R. and Maruna, S. (2006). 'The kindness of prisoners: Strengths-based resettlement in theory and in action', *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 6(1), pp. 83-106.

Canton, R. (2022). 'After-care, resettlement and social inclusion: The role of probation', *Probation Journal*, 69(3), pp. 373–390.

Carlen, P. and Tombs, J. (2006). 'Reconfigurations of Penality: The ongoing case of the women's imprisonment and reintegration industries', *Theoretical Criminology*, 10(3), pp. 337–360.

Clancy, A. Hudson, K. Maguire, M. Peake, R. Raynor, P. Vanstone, M. and Kynch, J. (2006). *Getting out and staying out, results of the prisoner resettlement pathfinders*, Bristol: Policy Press.

Corston, Lady J. (2007). *The Corston Report: A report by Baroness Jean Corston of a review of women with particular vulnerabilities in the criminal justice system*, London: Home Office.

Cracknell, M. (2020). 'Post-sentence supervision: A case study of the extension of community resettlement support for short sentence prisoners', *Probation Journal*, 67(4), pp. 340-357.

Cracknell, M. (2021a). 'The resettlement net: 'revolving door' imprisonment and carceral (re) circulation', *Punishment & Society*, doi: 14624745211035837.

Cracknell, M. (2021b). 'From the 'seamless sentence' to 'through the gate': understanding the common threads of resettlement policy failures', *British Journal of Community Justice*, 17(2), pp. 86-103.

Cracknell, M. (2022). 'Trapped in a cycle: The Offender Rehabilitation Act 2014 and the rise in recall to custody', *Early Career Academics Network Bulletin Themed Issue*, 13.

Cracknell, M. and Flinterman, C. (2022). 'Resettlement: A people-first approach to community (re) integration', in Burke, L., Carr, N., Cluley, E., Collett, S. and McNeill, F. (eds.) *Reimagining Probation Practice*. Abingdon: Routledge, pp. 96-111.

Crow, I. (2006). Resettling Prisoners, A Review, York: York Publishing.

Digard, L. (2010). 'When legitimacy is denied: Sex offenders' perceptions and experiences of prison recall', *Probation Journal*, 57(1), pp.43–61.

Dominey, J. (2019). 'Probation supervision as a network of relationships: Aiming to be thick, not thin', *Probation Journal*, 66(3), pp. 283-302.

Farmer, M. (2017). *The importance of strengthening prisoners' family ties to prevent reoffending and reduce intergenerational crime*, London: Ministry of Justice.

Gelsthorpe, L., and Sharpe, G. (2007). 'Women and resettlement', in Hucklesby, A. and Hagley-Dickson, L. (eds). *Prisoner resettlement, policy and practice*. Cullompton: Willan, pp. 213-237.

Hall, L. Best, D. Ogden-Webb, C. Dixon, J. and Heslop, R. (2018). 'Building bridges to the community: The Kirkham Family Connectors (KFC) Prison programme', *The Howard Journal of Crime and Justice*, 57(4), pp. 518-536.

Halushka, J. M. (2020). 'The Runaround: Punishment, Welfare, and Poverty Survival after Prison', *Social Problems*, 67(2), pp. 233-250.

Hedderman, C. (2007). 'Rediscovering resettlement: Narrowing the gap between policy rhetoric and practice reality', in Hucklesby, A. and Hagley-Dickson, L. (eds). *Prisoner resettlement, policy and practice*. Cullompton: Willan.

HM Inspectorate of Prisons. (2020). *Minority ethnic prisoners' experience of rehabilitation and release planning. A thematic review by HM Inspectorate of Prisons*. London: HM Inspectorate of Prisons.

HM Inspectorate of Probation and HM Inspectorate of Prisons. (2022). *Offender Management in Custody – pre-release*. Manchester: HM Inspectorate of Probation.

Hucklesby, A. and Wincup, E. (2007). 'Models of resettlement work with prisoners', in Hucklesby, A. and Hagley-Dickson, L (eds). *Prisoner resettlement, Policy and practice*. Cullompton: Willan.

Hughes, W. (2012). 'Promoting offender engagement and compliance in sentence planning: Practitioner and service user perspectives in Hertfordshire', *Probation Journal*, 59(1), pp. 49-65.

Jacobson, J., Phillips, C. and Edgar, K. (2010). "Double trouble"? Black, Asian and minority ethnic offenders' experiences of resettlement. London: Clinks.

Kemshall, H. (2007). 'Dangerous offenders: Release and resettlement', in Hucklesby, A. and Hagley-Dickson, L. (eds). *Prisoner Resettlement, Policy and practice*. Cullompton: Willan.

Kemshall, H. (2021). *Risk and Desistance: A Blended Approach to Risk Management*, HM Inspectorate of Probation Academic Insights 2021/07.

Lammy, D. (2017). *The Lammy Review: An independent review into the treatment of, and outcomes for, Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic individuals in the Criminal Justice System.*London: Lammy Review.

Maguire, M. and Raynor, P. (1997). 'The revival of throughcare: Rhetoric and reality in automatic conditional release', *The British Journal of Criminology*, 37(1), pp. 1-14.

Maguire, M. and Raynor, P. (2006a). 'End-to-end or end in tears? Prospects for the effectiveness of the National Offender Management Model', in Hough, M. Allen, R. and Padel, U. (eds). *Reshaping probation and prisons, The new offender manager framework*. Bristol: Policy Press.

Maguire, M. and Raynor, P. (2006b). 'How the resettlement of prisoners promotes desistance from crime? Or does it?', *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 6(1), pp. 19-38.

Maguire, M. and Raynor, P. (2017). 'Offender management in and after prison: The end of the 'end to end'?', *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 17(2), pp. 138-157.

Malloch, M., Schinkel, M. and Armstrong, S. (2013). *The elements of effective through-care part 1: International review,* The Scottish Centre for Crime and Justice (SCCJR).

Maruna, S. (2006). 'Who owns resettlement? Towards restorative re-integration', *British Journal of Community Justice*, 4(2), pp. 23-33.

Maruna, S. (2011). 'Reentry as a rite of passage', *Punishment & Society*, 13(1), pp. 3-28.

Maruna, S. and LeBel, T.P. (2015). 'Strengths-based restorative approaches to reentry: The evolution of creative restitution, reintegration and destignitization', in Ronel, N. and Segev, D. (eds.) *Positive criminology*. Routledge, pp. 65-84.

McNeill, F. (2006). 'A desistance paradigm for offender management', *Journal of criminology* and criminal justice, 6(1), pp. 39-62.

McNeill, F. and Weaver, B. (2010). *Changing lives? Desistance research and offender management*, Glasgow: Scottish Centre for Crime and Justice Research.

Miller, R. J., and Stuart, F. (2017) 'Carceral citizenship: Race, rights and responsibility in the age of mass supervision', *Theoretical Criminology*, 21(4), pp.532-548.

Ministry of Justice. (2022). *Offender Management Statistics Bulletin, England and Wales Quarterly: October to December 2021, and Annual: calendar year 2021 Prison population: 31 March 2022.* London: Ministry of Justice.

Moore, R. (2011). 'Beyond the prison walls: Some thoughts on prisoner 'resettlement' in England and Wales', *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 12(2), pp. 129-147.

Raynor, P. (2007). 'Theoretical perspectives on resettlement: What it is and how it might work', in Hucklesby, A. and Hagley-Dickson, L. (eds) *Prisoner Resettlement, Policy and practice*. Cullompton: Willan, pp. 26-42.

Raynor, P. (2019). *Supervision skills for probation practitioners*, HM Inspectorate of Probation Academic Insights 2019/05.

Raynor, P. (2020). 'Resettlement after short prison sentences: What might work in England and Wales?', *Probation Journal*, 67(4), pp. 326–339.

Rubio Arnal, A. (2021). *Post-prison re/integration? A Glasgow case study.* Doctoral dissertation, University of Glasgow.

Trebilcock, J. and Worrall, A. (2018). 'The importance of throughcare and resettlement for working with violent and sexual offenders', in Ireland, J. Farrington, D.P., Ireland, C. and Birch, P. (eds.) *Violent and Sexual Offenders*. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge: pp. 504-519.

Weaver, B. and Barry, M. (2014). 'Managing high risk offenders in the community: Compliance, cooperation and consent in a climate of concern', *European Journal of Probation*, 6(3), pp. 278-295.

© Crown copyright 2023

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence or email psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third-party copyright information, you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available for download at: www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation

Published by:

HM Inspectorate of Probation 1st Floor Civil Justice Centre 1 Bridge Street West Manchester M3 3FX

The HM Inspectorate of Probation Research Team can be contacted via HMIProbationResearch@hmiprobation.gov.uk

ISBN: 978-1-915468-56-7